IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 17 2019 04:57 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

Supreme Court No. 77874

SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 4641 VIAREGGIO CT.,

Respondent.

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XXIV
The Honorable Adriana Escobar, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-13-689240-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8215
DONNA WITTIG, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11015
AKERMAN, LLP
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134
Telephone: (702) 634-5000

Attorneys for Appellant Nationstar Mortgage LLC

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

INTRODUCTION

This case involves issues and circumstances familiar to the Court from dozens of other appeals in similar cases. Respondent Saticoy Bay LLC Series 4641 Viareggio Court ("Saticoy Bay") purchased property at a homeowners' association foreclosure sale. Appellant Nationstar Mortgage LLC ("Nationstar") submitted evidence showing that the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac") owned a deed of trust encumbering the property at the time of the foreclosure sale, and argued that a federal statute—12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) (the "Federal Foreclosure Bar"), part of the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008

("HERA")—preempted state law that might otherwise have allowed the foreclosure sale to extinguish the deed of trust.

The district court awarded summary judgment to Saticoy Bay. The court held that, "[b]ecause no interest" of Freddie Mac or its Conservator the Federal Housing Finance Agency ("FHFA") "was recorded, there was no interest that would be effective as against the HOA or Saticoy Bay," and further held that Freddie Mac's business records did not prove its ownership of the loan because "this evidence would conflict with the judicially noticeable public record." Joint Appendix ("JA") JA8 1789. To the contrary, these conclusions conflict directly with this Court's decision in *In re Montierth*, 354 P.3d 648 (Nev. 2015), which has been confirmed in no fewer than ten cases closely analogous to this one. This Court's precedent is clear that Freddie Mac has maintained its secured interest in the deed of trust while Nationstar, its contractually authorized servicer, appears as the deed of trust's beneficiary of record. Similarly, this Court and the Ninth Circuit have held that the same type of evidence provided by Nationstar in this case is sufficient to prove an Enterprise's loan ownership.

Because the district court erred in awarding summary judgment in favor of Saticoy Bay, this Court should reverse.

ISSUES PRESENTED

The Federal Foreclosure Bar

I. In *Montierth*, this Court confirmed that a loan owner maintains an interest in collateral property where the owner's contractually authorized representative appears as record beneficiary of the deed of trust. The district court, however, held that Freddie Mac had no interest in the loan because its interest was not publicly recorded in Freddie Mac's own name. Did the district court err in holding that Nevada law required Freddie Mac to record its interest in its own name?

II. Under this Court's precedent, Freddie Mac's database records, a declaration from a Freddie Mac employee explaining those records, and Freddie Mac's Guide are admissible and sufficient to establish Freddie Mac's ownership interest in a mortgage lien and its contractual relationship with its loan servicers. Nationstar presented the same evidence in this case, while Saticoy Bay introduced no contrary evidence. Did the district court err in refusing to consider such evidence demonstrating Freddie Mac's ownership interest on the basis that it supposedly conflicted with the publicly recorded deed of trust?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nationstar challenges the district court's award of summary judgment in favor of Saticoy Bay's quiet-title and declaratory-relief claims arising out of its purchase of property at a homeowners' association foreclosure sale (the "HOA Sale"). At the

and its associated promissory note, and Nationstar served as the beneficiary of record of the deed of trust as Freddie Mac's contractually authorized servicer. Nationstar opposed summary judgment on the grounds that the Federal Foreclosure Bar protected Freddie Mac's deed of trust, which survived the HOA Sale.

After a hearing on Saticoy Bay's motion for summary judgment, the district court adopted Saticoy Bay's arguments and concluded that, unless Freddie Mac's name was on the publicly recorded deed of trust, it had no property interest under Nevada law, and thus the Federal Foreclosure Bar did not apply. Accordingly, the district court granted Saticoy Bay's motion for summary judgment. That conclusion is contrary to this Court's decision in *Montierth* and numerous subsequent opinions.

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. The Secondary Mortgage Market

Congress created Freddie Mac and the Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae" and, together with Freddie Mac, "the Enterprises") to support a nationwide secondary mortgage market. *See City of Spokane v. Fannie Mae*, 775 F.3d 1113, 1114 (9th Cir. 2014). Freddie Mac's federal statutory charter authorizes it to purchase and deal only in secured "mortgages," not unsecured loans. *See* 12 U.S.C. §§ 1451(d), 1454; *see also Lightfoot v. Cendant Mortg. Corp.*, 137 S. Ct.

553, 557 (2017) (discussing Fannie Mae's role as a purchaser of mortgages); *FHFA v. Nomura Holding Am., Inc.*, 873 F.3d 85, 105 (2d Cir. 2017) (same); *Perry Capital LLC v. Mnuchin*, 864 F.3d 591, 599-600 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (same). Freddie Mac has purchased millions of mortgages nationwide, including hundreds of thousands of mortgages in Nevada.

Although Freddie Mac owns a large number of mortgage loans through its purchases on the secondary market, it is not in the business of managing the mortgages themselves, such as handling day-to-day borrower communications. Instead, Freddie Mac contracts with servicers to act on its behalf; in that role, servicers often appear as record beneficiaries of deeds of trust. See Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, 396 P.3d 754, 757-58 (Nev. 2017) (acknowledging servicers' role); Cervantes v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., 656 F.3d 1034, 1039 (9th Cir. 2011) (describing servicers' role); Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages § 5.4 (the "Restatement") cmt. c (discussing the common practice where investors in the secondary mortgage market designate their servicer to be assignee of the mortgage); Freddie Mac's Single-Family Seller/Servicer Guide (the "Guide") at 1101.2(a) (discussing Freddie Mac's relationship with servicers to manage the loans Freddie Mac purchases), JA7 1602-03; see also JA7 1569 et seq.

(earlier versions of Guide excerpts).¹ In such situations, the note owner remains a secured creditor with a property interest in the collateral even if the recorded deed of trust names only the loan servicer. *E.g.*, *Montierth*, 354 P.3d at 650-51; *JPMorgan Chase Bank*, *N.A. v. Guberland LLC-Series* 2 ("Guberland II"), No. 73196, 2019 WL 2339537, at *1 (Nev. May 31, 2019) (unpublished disposition); *Nationstar Mortg.*, *LLC v. Guberland LLC-Series 3* ("Guberland"), No. 70546, 2018 WL 3025919, at *2 (Nev. June 15, 2018) (unpublished disposition); *Berezovsky*, 869 F.3d at 932.

Relevant excerpts of the Guide were submitted with Nationstar's opposition to Saticoy Bay's Motion for Summary Judgment, and explained by Freddie Mac's supporting declaration. JA7 1518-20, 1552-53, 1568-1623. The Guide is publicly available on Freddie Mac's website as well. An interactive version is available at http://www.freddiemac.com/singlefamily/guide, and archived prior versions of the Guide are available at www.freddiemac.com/singlefamily/guide/bulletins/snapshot. httml. While the cited sections of the Guide have been amended over the course of Freddie Mac's ownership of the Loan, none of these amendments have materially changed the relevant sections.

The Court may take judicial notice of the Guide. *See Mack v. Estate of Mack*, 206 P.3d 98, 106 (Nev. 2009) (taking judicial notice on appeal); *Berezovsky v. Moniz*, 869 F.3d 923, 932 n.9 (9th Cir. 2017) (taking judicial notice of Freddie Mac's Servicing Guide); *Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. Guberland LLC-Series 3*, No. 70546, 2018 WL 3205919, at *2 (Nev. June 15, 2018) (unpublished disposition) (describing Fannie Mae Servicing Guide as "publicly available"); *Charest v. Fannie Mae*, 9 F. Supp. 3d 114, 118 & n.1 (D. Mass. 2014); *Cirino v. Bank of Am.*, No. 13-cv-8829, 2014 WL 9894432, at *7 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 1, 2014).

II. Statutory Background

HERA established FHFA as the Enterprises' regulator, authorized FHFA's Director to place the Enterprises into conservatorships in certain circumstances, and enumerated the powers, privileges, and exemptions FHFA possesses as Conservator. *See* Pub. L. No. 110-289, 122 Stat. 2654 (codified as 12 U.S.C. § 4511 *et seq.*). In September 2008—at the height of the financial crisis—FHFA's Director placed the Enterprises into conservatorships, where they remain today. *See Nationstar*, 396 P.3d at 755.

The Federal Foreclosure Bar—a broad statutory "exemption," captioned "Property protection," within HERA—mandates that when the Enterprises are under FHFA conservatorship, "[n]o property of the Agency shall be subject to ... foreclosure ... without the consent of the Agency ... " 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3). Another HERA provision mandates that upon the inception of conservatorship, FHFA (i.e., the "Agency") succeeds by operation of law to "all rights, titles, powers, and privileges" of the entity in conservatorship "with respect to [its] assets," *id.* § 4617(b)(2)(A), thereby rendering all of the Enterprises' assets "property of the Agency" for the duration of the conservatorship, *id.* § 4617(j)(3). These statutory provisions—readily available to anyone, including investors specializing in foreclosed-property purchases—exist to protect the conservatorships and, ultimately, U.S. taxpayers.

Nevada Revised Statute 116.3116(2) (the "State Foreclosure Statute") grants homeowners' associations a superpriority lien for up to nine months of unpaid HOA dues (six months when the property is encumbered by an Enterprise lien). The State Foreclosure Statute permits properly conducted foreclosure sales of superpriority HOA liens to extinguish all junior interests, including prior-recorded security interests. *SFR Invs. Pool 1 v. U.S. Bank*, 334 P.3d 408, 419 (Nev. 2014).

III. Facts Specific to the Property

In January 2007, Monique Guillory ("Borrower") executed a promissory note memorializing her commitment to repay a \$258,400 loan from First Magnus Financial Corporation ("Lender") for the purchase of a property located at 4641 Viareggio Court in Las Vegas (the "Property"). JA7 1549.² The note was secured by a deed of trust recorded against the Property on January 25, 2007 (the "Deed of Trust," together with the corresponding note, the "Loan"). JA6 1382. The Deed of Trust named Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") as beneficiary of record solely as nominee for Lender and Lender's successors and assigns. JA6 1383. MERS, as nominee for Lender and Lender's successors and assigns, recorded an assignment of its interest in the Deed of Trust to Aurora Loan Services LLC ("Aurora") in February 2011. JA6 1410. In October 2012, Aurora

The findings of fact included a typo that the Borrower obtained a loan in the amount of \$58,400 from the Lender (JA8 1786), instead of \$258,400 (JA6 1383, JA7 1549, 1555).

recorded an assignment of its interest in the Deed of Trust to Nationstar. JA6 1413; see also JA7 1550-51.

As evidenced by its authenticated business records, Freddie Mac purchased the Loan in March 2007 and has owned it ever since. JA7 1549-50, 1552, 1555, 1563-67; *see also* JA8 1788 (Freddie Mac's "business records and testimony of a Freddie Mac employee state that Freddie Mac purchased the loan, including both the note and the deed of trust, on March 29, 2007 and continued to own the loan at the time of the HOA sale").

At the time of the HOA Sale on August 22, 2013, Nationstar was the record beneficiary of the Deed of Trust in its capacity as Freddie Mac's servicer. JA6 1413, JA7 1551-52, 1555, 1559, 1563-67; *see also* JA8 1788 ("Nationstar was servicing the loan on behalf of Freddie Mac at the time of the HOA Sale"). Nationstar is the current record beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and continues to service the Loan for Freddie Mac. JA7 1551-53, 1563-67.

At no time did FHFA consent to the extinguishment or foreclosure of Freddie Mac's property interest through the HOA Sale. JA6 1433 ("FHFA confirms that it has not consented, and will not consent in the future, to the foreclosure or other extinguishment of any Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac lien or other property interest in connection with HOA foreclosures of super-priority liens.").

IV. Procedural History

The HOA Sale took place on August 22, 2013. In September 2013, Saticoy Bay filed a complaint seeking declaratory and injunctive relief to free and clear title to the Property. JA1 2-5. In December 2013, Nationstar moved to dismiss the complaint, arguing under Nevada state law that the Deed of Trust survived the HOA Sale. JA1 12-26. Saticoy Bay opposed, or, in the alternative, moved to stay the case pending this Court's resolution of appeals interpreting the State Foreclosure Statute. JA1 99-121. In April 2014, the district court denied the motion to dismiss but granted the motion to stay. JA1 247-48. The stay was lifted in February 2015. JA2 261, 276.

In March 2015, Nationstar filed an answer and a counterclaim against Saticoy Bay for quiet title and injunctive relief. JA2 286, 282-99. Saticoy Bay moved to dismiss the counterclaim, JA2 434-48, and Nationstar filed an opposition and counter-motion for summary judgment on several state law grounds, JA2 475 - JA3 501-09. In July 2015, the district court granted Saticoy Bay's motion to dismiss Nationstar's counterclaim, and denied Nationstar's counter-motion for summary judgment. JA3 707-720.

In May 2017, Saticoy Bay filed a motion for summary judgment. JA4 810-32. In September 2017, the district court entered default judgment against Nationstar after its opposition was filed out of time. JA6 1310; *see also* JA6 1306-1318.

Thereafter, Nationstar moved for reconsideration and the district court granted that motion, allowing Nationstar to file its opposition to summary judgment. *See* JA6 1342, 1375A. Nationstar opposed Saticoy Bay's motion for summary judgment on the basis that the Federal Foreclosure Bar could not extinguish Enterprise property interests while under conservatorship without the conservator's consent, among other grounds. JA7 1512-53.

In December 2018, the district court granted Saticoy Bay's motion for summary judgment, concluding that because Freddie Mac's property interest was not recorded, the Federal Foreclosure Bar did not apply. JA8 1785-92. The court also rejected Freddie Mac's business-record evidence and supporting declaration on the basis that it would purportedly "conflict with the judicially noticeable public record." JA8 1789. Nationstar filed a timely notice of appeal. JA8 1801-12.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Federal Foreclosure Bar protects Freddie Mac's property interests from extinguishment, including via a homeowners' association sale under NRS Chapter 116. *See* 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3). The district court incorrectly concluded as a matter of law that Freddie Mac lacked a protected property interest because Freddie Mac did not itself appear as the Deed of Trust's record beneficiary. JA8 1789. The district court improperly reasoned that the absence of a recorded interest in Freddie Mac's name conflicted with Freddie Mac's business records, which demonstrated its

ownership of the Loan. *Id.* Those conclusions misapply Nevada law, contravening this Court's decision in *Montierth* and numerous subsequent decisions recognizing that the owner of a loan need not record its interest in its own name to maintain its status as a secured creditor where, as here, the loan owner's contractually authorized servicer was record beneficiary.

Furthermore, the record is replete with evidence of Freddie Mac's property interest, including the same type of business records that this Court and the Ninth Circuit have held to be both admissible and sufficient to establish a valid and enforceable property interest under Nevada law. Nationstar's appearance as beneficiary of record of the Deed of Trust is fully consistent with Freddie Mac's ownership of the Loan, not contradictory to it.

The district court's erroneous holding that the Federal Foreclosure Bar did not protect Freddie Mac's interest was therefore based on an incorrect understanding of Nevada law and must be reversed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court." *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (Nev. 2005). A district court's conclusions of law are not entitled to deference and are reviewed de novo. *Cty. of Clark v. Sun State Props., Ltd.*, 72

P.3d 954, 957 (Nev. 2003); *Paige v. State*, 995 P.2d 1020, 1021 (Nev. 2000) ("Questions of law are subject to de novo review.").

ARGUMENT

The district court erred in holding the Federal Foreclosure Bar inapplicable. Twelve decisions of this Court,³ seven Ninth Circuit opinions,⁴ and dozens of state and federal trial courts in Nevada all hold that an HOA foreclosure sale cannot extinguish property interests of the Enterprises while they are in conservatorship.

Saticoy Bay LLC Series 9641 Christine View v. Fannie Mae, 417 P.3d 363, 368 (Nev. 2018); Guberland II, 2019 WL 2339537, at *1; M&T Bank v. Wild Calla Street Trust, No. 74715, 2019 WL 1423107, at * 1 (Nev. Mar. 28, 2019) (unpublished disposition); Nevada New Builds, LLC v. Nationstar Mortg., LLC, No. 72243, 2019 WL 1245616, at *1 (Nev. Mar. 15, 2019) (unpublished disposition); CitiMortgage, Inc. v. TRP Fund VI, LLC, No. 71318, 2019 WL 1245886, at *1 (Nev. Mar. 14, 2019) (unpublished disposition); Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. Raab, No. 72347, 2019 WL 912649, at *1 (Nev. Feb. 20, 2019) (unpublished disposition); CitiMortgage v. SFR, 2019 WL 289690, at *1-2; SFR v. Green Tree, 2018 WL 6721370, at *2; OneWest Bank FSB v. Holm Int'l Props., LLC, No. 72933, 2018 WL 6817052, at *2 (Nev. Dec. 20, 2018) (unpublished disposition); A&I LLC Series 3 v. Fannie Mae, No. 71124, 2018 WL 3387787, at *1 (Nev. July 10, 2018) (unpublished disposition); Guberland, 2018 WL 3025919, at *2; 5312 La Quinta Hills v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP, No. 71069, 2018 WL 3025927, at *1 (Nev. June 15, 2018) (unpublished disposition).

FHFA v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, 893 F.3d 1136, 1149 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, 139 S. Ct. 1618 (Apr. 29, 2019); Berezovsky, 869 F.3d at 929-31; G&P Inv. Enters. v. Barney, 740 F. App'x 563, 563-64 (9th Cir. 2018); JPMorgan Chase Bank v. LVDG, LLC, 740 F. App'x 153, 154 (9th Cir. 2018); Williston Inv. Grp., LLC v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA, 736 F. App'x 168, 169 (9th Cir. 2018); Saticoy Bay, LLC, Series 2714 Snapdragon v. Flagstar Bank, FSB, 699 F. App'x 658, 658-59 (9th Cir. 2017); Elmer v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., 707 F. App'x 426, 426 (9th Cir. 2017).

In *Christine View*, this Court held that the Federal Foreclosure Bar preempts the State Foreclosure Statute because it "is in direct conflict with Congress's clear and manifest goal to protect Fannie Mae's property interest while under the FHFA's conservatorship from threats arising from state foreclosure law." 417 P.3d at 367-68. Thus, the Federal Foreclosure Bar prevails over state law that would otherwise permit an HOA sale to extinguish an Enterprise's property interest. *Christine View* controls here.

The Ninth Circuit has likewise held that "the Federal Foreclosure Bar ... preempts [the State Foreclosure Statute] and prevents the homeowners' association sale from extinguishing [FHFA's] interest." *LVDG*, 740 F. App'x at 154 (citing *Berezovsky*, 869 F.3d at 931). The district court's ruling is erroneous because it conflicts with this Court's controlling precedent.

I. Freddie Mac Had a Property Interest Under This Court's Controlling Decision in *Montierth*

The district court cited *Montierth* for the proposition that, "[i]n Nevada, a security interest is only effective against a third party once it is recorded," JA8 1788 (citing *Montierth*, 354 P.3d at 650). The district court then held that, "[b]ecause no interest of Freddie Mac or FHFA was recorded, there is no such interest that would be effective as against the HOA or Saticoy Bay. Thus, the federal foreclosure bar

14

⁵ See also, e.g., FHFA v. SFR, 893 F.3d at 1146-47; G&P, 740 F. App'x at 564; Williston, 736 F. App'x at 169.

does not apply here." JA8 1789. The district court's holding is wrong and does not reflect this Court's decision in *Montierth*, as it omits much of the substantive analysis of the opinion. Under Nevada law, Freddie Mac had a secured property interest that was properly recorded with Nationstar—Freddie Mac's servicer—named as record beneficiary of the Deed of Trust.

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