2	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 1641 <u>mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com</u> LAW OFFICES OF MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD. 2260 Corporate Circle, Ste. 480 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX Attorney for plaintiff/respondent Saticoy Bay LLC Series 4641 Viareggio Ct	:	Electronically Filed Jul 17 2019 02:40 Elizabeth A. Browr Clerk of Supreme 0	p.m.
9	SUPREME	COURT		
10	STATE OF 1	NEVADA		
11				
12	NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC,	No. 77874		
13	Appellant,			
14	VS.			
15	SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 4641			
16 17	VIAREGGIO CT,			
17 18	Respondent.			
18	respondent.			
20				
21	ANSWERING BRIEF BY RESPO SERIES 4641 VIA	ONDENT SATICO	Y BAY LLC	
22	<u>SEKIES 4041 VIA</u>	<u>AKEGGIU CI</u>

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

I

time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, all in the course of a regularly conducted activity, as shown by the testimony or affidavit of the custodian or other qualified person, is not inadmissible under the hearsay rule unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness. (emphasis added)

The declaration by Mr. Meyer did not identify the "writing" required by NRS 111.205(1), and Mr. Meyer did not state that this required "writing" must exist before an unidentified person listed Freddie Mac as the owner of the Guillory loan in Freddie Mac's Loan Status Manager and MIDAS system upon which Mr. Meyer based his declaration.

The record on appeal also does not contain admissible evidence proving that the unidentified person(s) who entered the data regarding the Guillory loan in MIDAS followed any procedure that required the person(s) to first confirm the existence of the "writing" required by Nevada law for Freddie Mac to enforce either the Guillory note or deed of trust. Consequently, data entries made in MIDAS by an unknown person using an unknown procedure on an unknown date cannot prove that the "writing" required by Nevada law existed on August 22, 2013.

At pages 5 and 6 of its reply (JA Vol. VII, pgs. 1673-1674), plaintiff quoted the requirements to lay a proper foundation for the admission of computer records found in <u>American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. v. Vinhee (In re</u> <u>Vinhee</u>), 336 B.R. 437, 446-447 (9th Cir. BAP 2015). Plaintiff also stated that "[t]he
 declaration by Mr. Meyer does not include statements based on personal knowledge
 that prove the required steps for the admission of the exhibits to his declaration." (JA
 Vol. VII, pg. 1674)

In <u>Paddack v. Dave Christensen, Inc.</u>, 745 F.2d 1254, 1259 (9th Cir. 1984).
the court of appeals stated that "where the only function that the report serves is to
assist in litigation or its preparation, many of the normal checks upon the accuracy
of business records are not operative." <u>Id. (quoting McCormick on Evidence § 308,</u>
at 877 n. 26 (E. Cleary 3d ed. 1984)).

Because the computer records upon which Mr. Meyer based his declaration
were not printed until February 22, 2017 (JA Vol. VII, pgs. 1555, 1557, 1559, 1561,
1563-1567), defendant did not prove that the "writing" required by Nevada law for
Freddie Mac to enforce the Guillory loan existed on August 22, 2013.

14

NRS 50.025(1)(a) states that "[a] witness may not testify to a matter unless.
. [e]vidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has
personal knowledge of the matter." NRCP 56(e) states that "[s]upporting and
opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth facts as
would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is

1 competent to testify to the matters stated therein."

2	
2	Because Mr. Meyer did not state that he had ever seen the documents that
4	must exist for Freddie Mac to hold an interest in the Property or for defendant to be
5	the consistence of the Coville medican few Freddie Mar. Mr. Marce 2. declaration is not
6	the servicer of the Guillory loan for Freddie Mac, Mr. Meyer's declaration is not
7	admissible to prove the existence of those documents.
8	Section 1.2(a)(3) of the Guide that became effective on July 20, 2012 (JA Vol.
9	Section 1.2(a)(5) of the Guide that became effective on July 20, 2012 (JA VOI.
10 11	V, pg. 1090) states:
11	If a Servicer who services Mortgages for Freddie Mac is not also the
12	Seller of the Mortgages for Freddie Mac, the Servicer must agree to service Mortgages for Freddie Mac by separate agreement, which incorporates the applicable Purchase Documents.
14	incorporates the applicable Purchase Documents.
15	Defendant's failure to produce this required "separate agreement" also
16	anna arts a discutable anonymetica "[t]hat anider as willfully surgeous deviauld be
17	supports a disputable presumption "[t]hat evidence willfully suppressed would be
18	adverse if produced." NRS 47.250(3).
19	At page 23 of its Brief, defendant cites Mr. Meyer's declaration at JA Vol.
20	The page 25 of its blief, defendant enes with weyer's declaration at 577 vol.
21	VII, pgs. 22-23 as evidence that "the Guide serves as the governing document for the
22 23	relationship between Freddie Mac and Naitonstar." As quoted at page 16 above,
23 24	
2 4 25	Section $1.2(a)(2)$ of the Guide instead states that "each transaction is governed by the
26	Guide, the applicable Purchase Contract and all other Purchase Documents."
27	Because the record on appeal does not contain the required "Purchase
28	because the record on appear does not contain the required runchase

1	Contract" and "other Purchase Documents" for the Guillory loan, defendant did not
2	prove that Freddie Mac complied with the Guide to hold any interest in the Guillory
3	
4	loan.
5 6	At the bottom of page 23 of its Brief, defendant states that "[t]he district
7	accurt's design lasts surport in sither the record exidence on the accuration law,"
8	court's decision lacks support in either the record evidence or the governing law,"
9	but defendant's failure to produce the signed writing required by NRS 111.205(1),
10	and Freddie Mac's failure to record that writing as required by NRS 111.315, proves
11 12	that the district court correctly concluded that "[b]ecause no interest of Freddie Mac
12	that the district controlly concluded that [b]course no interest of Fredule that
13	or FHFA was recorded, there is no such interest that would be effective as against
15	the HOA or Saticoy Bay." (JA Vol. VIII, pg. 1789, ¶5)
16	4. 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) did not protect the deed of trust from
17 18	4. 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) did not protect the deed of trust from being extinguished because FHFA did not act as a conservator or receiver in the case below and defendant did not prove that it had a contract to service the Guillory loan.
19	
20	12 U.S.C. § $4617(j)(1)$ provides that "[t]he provisions of this subsection shall
21	apply with respect to the Agency in any case in which the Agency is acting as a
22	concernation or a receiver " (emphasis added) The word "A conce" is defined by 12
23	conservator or a receiver." (emphasis added) The word "Agency" is defined by 12
24	U.S.C. § 4502(2) to be the FHFA. The definition of "regulated entity" in 12 U.S.C.
25 26	§ 4502(20) includes Freddie Mac.
20 27	
27	In Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 133 Nev.,
20	39

Adv. Op. 34, 396 P.3d 754, 758 (2017), this Court held that "the servicer of a loan 1 2 owned by a regulated entity may argue that the Federal Foreclosure Bar preempts 3 NRS 116.3116, and that neither Freddie Mac nor the FHFA need be joined as a 4 5 In reaching this conclusion, this Court relied on 12 U.S.C. § party." 6 7 4617(b)(2)(B)(v) and 12 C.F.R. § 1237.3(a)(8) to conclude that "HERA explicitly 8 allows the FHFA to authorize a loan servicer to administer FHFA loans on FHFA's 9 10 behalf." 396 P.3d at 757. 11 In Berezovsky v. Moniz, 869 F.3d 923 (9th Cir. 2017) and Elmer v. JPMorgan

12 13 Chase & Co., 707 Fed. App'x 426 (9th Cir. 2017), the requirement in 12 U.S.C. § 14 4617(j)(1) was satisfied because FHFA intervened and was a party. In the present 15 16 case, on the other hand, because FHFA never "acted" as a party either as "a 17 18 conservator or a receiver," the provisions in 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j), and in particular, 19 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3), cannot support the arguments made by defendant to claim 20 21 that deed of trust assigned to defendant on October 12, 2012 was not extinguished. 22 See assignment of deed of trust, recorded on October 18, 2012, at JA Vol. V, pg. 23 24 1203.

On December 19, 2017, defendant filed an amended opposition to plaintiff's
 motion for summary judgment. (JA Vol. VII, pgs. 1512-1668)

25

1	At page 6 of its opposition (JA VII, pg. 1517), defendant stated that "[a]t the
2 3	time of the HOA Sale on August 22, 2013, Nationstar was the servicer of the Loan
4	for Freddie Mac."
5	Defendant cited "Exhibit C, \P 5.i" as evidence, but this was only a statement
6 7	made by Dean Meyer that "[0]n October 18, 2012, an Assignment of Deed of Trust
8	inde by Dean Weyer that [0]n Oetober 10, 2012, an Assignment of Deed of Hust
9	was recorded, whereby Nationstar, as attorney in fact for Aurora, assigned its interest
10 11	in the Deed of Trust to Nationstar." (JA Vol. VII, pg. 1551, ¶5(i))
11	In the present case, the record on appeal does not contain any admissible
13	evidence proving that defendant was the "attorney in fact for Aurora" on October 8,
14	
15	2012 when the assignment of deed of trust was signed by Sean Mckenzie. (JA Vol.
16 17	V, pg. 1203) NRS 162A.480(2) provides:
18	Every power of attorney, or other instrument in writing, containing the
19	power to convey any real property as agent or attorney for the owner thereof, or to execute, as agent or attorney for another, any conveyance whereby any real property is conveyed, or may be affected, must be
20	whereby any real property is conveyed, or may be affected, must be recorded as other conveyances whereby real property is conveyed or affected are required to be recorded.
21	affected are required to be recorded.
22	No document has ever been recorded that proves defendant had any power
23	to act on behalf of Aurora.
24 25	
25 26	In paragraph 5 (h) at page 4 of his declaration (JA2a, pg. 374), Mr. Meyer
27	stated that the Guide is "a publicly accessible document" and "serves as a central
28	
	41

document governing the contractual relationship between Freddie Mac and its 1 2 servicers nationwide, including Nationstar." This statement is contradicted by 3 Section 1.2(a)(2) of the Guide, which expressly provide that "the Seller agrees that 4 5 each transaction is governed by the Guide, the applicable Purchase Contract and all 6 7 other Purchase Documents." (emphasis added) Section 1.2(a)(3) of the Guide also 8 states that "the Mortgages purchased will be serviced by the Seller pursuant to the 9 10 unitary, indivisible master Servicing contract."

In paragraph 5 (k) at page 5 of his declaration (JA2a, pg. 375), Mr. Meyer 12 13 stated that Freddie Mac's Loan Status Manager "reflects that Nationstar has serviced 14 the Loan, pursuant to the Guide, from June 16, 2012 through the present." Mr. 15 16 Meyer, however, did not state that he had ever seen the "unitary, indivisible master 17 18 Servicing contract" for the Guillory loan that was required by Section 1.2(a)(3) of 19 the Guide. 20

11

The "Purchase Contract" and "the unitary, indivisible master Servicing contract" for the Guillory loan are not "a publicly accessible document," and neither document appears in the record on appeal. In addition, no person with personal knowledge stated that he or she had ever seen these required documents for defendant to be a servicer of the Guillory loan for Freddie Mac.

1	Furthermore, Section 1.2(a)(3) of the Guide states that "[t]he Seller agrees that
2	
3	any failure to service any Mortgage in accordance with the terms of the unitary,
4	indivisible master Servicing contract, or any breach of the Seller's obligations under
5	anne an actual the source in dissisible manater Compising a sector of the Dissource data
6	any aspect of the unitary, indivisible master Servicing contract, shall be deemed to
7	constitute a breach of the entire contract and shall entitle Freddie Mac to
8	terminate all or a portion of the Servicing contract "(emphasis added) Sec IA Vol
9	terminate all or a portion of the Servicing contract." (emphasis added) See JA Vol.
10	VII, pg. 1570.
11	Section 66.20 of Guide (adapted on January 14, 2011 and October 21, 2012)
12	Section 66.29 of Guide (adopted on January 14, 2011 and October 31, 2012)
13	states:
14	The Convision must abtein bills, and make normant for all evenences
15 16	The Servicer must obtain bills, and make payment for all expenses requiring payment under the Security Instrument. Such expenses may include, but are not limited to, real estate or personal property taxes,
17	special assessments, water bills, ground rents and other charges including condominium, homeowners association (HOA) and Planned
18	Unit Development (PUD) regular assessments, that are, or may become, a First Lien priority on the property or that if not paid would result in the subordination of Freddie Mac's interest in the property. (emphasis
19	added)
20	Section 67.5(2) of the Guide (adopted on June 30, 2011 and November 9,
21	Section 07.5(2) of the Ourde (adopted on June 50, 2011 and November 9,
22	2012) requires that Freddie Mac's servicers "compensate Freddie Mac and hold
23	Freddie Mac harmless for any loss, damage or expense, including court costs and
24	reduce that harmess for any loss, damage of expense, meruding court costs and
25 26	attorney fees, that Freddie Mac sustains as a result of the Servicer's failure to comply
26 27	with the Guide or that result from errors, omissions or delays by the Servicer or the
27	
20	
	43

Servicer's agent." Section 67.5(6) of the Guide (adopted on June 30, 2011 and November 9, 2012) requires that defendant "repurchase" the Mortgage as provided in Section 78.20 of the Guide. As a result, even if defendant did have a written agreement to service the Guillory loan for Freddie Mac at the time of the HOA foreclosure sale, defendant's failure to observe Freddie Mac's guidelines caused "a breach of the entire contract" requiring defendant to indemnify Freddie Mac, repurchase Freddie Mac's interest in the mortgage, or terminate servicing. Defendant cannot use an agreement that does not exist in the record on appeal, which no person with personal knowledge has stated exists, to give defendant authority to assert FHFA's rights in order to prevent the deed of trust assigned to defendant from being extinguished. 12 U.S.C. § 4617 does not preempt Nevada's recording statutes that make any interest in the Property claimed by Freddie Mac void 5. as to plaintiff. NRS 111.325 protects plaintiff from defendant's claim that Freddie Mac held an undisclosed interest in the Property. Plaintiff was entitled to rely upon the recorded corporation assignment of deed of trust (JA1b, pgs. 216-217) proving that defendant owned both the Guillory deed of trust and the underlying note on the date

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